# FILED 9/18/2017 4:27 PM Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 74825-4-I

No		
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON		
REBECCA A. RUFIN,  Plaintiff/Petitioner,		
v.		
CITY OF SEATTLE,		
Defendant/Respondent,		
PETITION FOR REVIEW		

John P. Sheridan, WSBA #21473 Mark W. Rose, WSBA #41916 THE SHERIDAN LAW FIRM, P.S. Hoge Building, Suite 1200 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 381-5949

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Petitioner

#

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Rebecca Rufin, the plaintiff/appellant/cross-respondent below, who asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B.

### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Rufin seeks review of the published opinion of the Court of Appeals entered on June 26, 2017 ("the Opinion" or "Op."). A copy of the Opinion, *Rufin II*, is in the Appendix, attached at pages A1-A16.<sup>1</sup>.

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is an issue of substantial public interest presented when the Court of Appeals, in a published opinion, holds that CR 68 applies to limit attorney fees awardable in actions under the Public Records Act ("PRA"), notwithstanding the PRA's unique attorney's fees provision, which entitles persons to recover fees without damages and irrespective of whether the court finds financial penalties are warranted?

<u>Issue No. 2</u>: Is the Court of Appeals statement, "the burden of proof is on the City in a trial for PRA violations," Op., at A6, fn. 1, in conflict with the Court's statement, that Ms. "Rufin failed to present any evidence that Maehara remembered, or even saw, the e-mail in question," *id.*, at A8?

<u>Issue No. 3</u>: Is an issue of substantial public interest presented when in a

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The denial of Rufin's motion for reconsideration is attached at A17.

published PRA case, the Court of Appeals imposes the burden of persuasion on the requesting party, rather than the government, and holds that the trial court having done the same was "harmless error"?

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. Factual Background

At times relevant to this case, Gary Maehara was the Public Records Officer for Seattle City Light. Ex. 46. Maehara, an attorney, wore many hats and also worked as an HR manager and the Director of Talent Acquisition, assisting with hiring. Ex. 39; RP 75-77, 109. In the latter role, Maehara in April 2012 received an email from Hiring Manager Mike Haynes, about an email that Rebecca Rufin had sent Haynes in relation to a job opening. Ex. 1. Rufin wrote Haynes, "So Mike, is there any point in applying for this? I still don't understand how I failed to measure up with the last length process." *Id.* Haynes forwarded Rufin's email, along with a short note ("I have not replied.") to Maehara and Maehara's boss, HR Officer DaVonna Johnson. *Id.*; RP 75. Rufin reapplied for the Civil and Mechanical Engineer Manager (CMEM) job, but was not chosen. *See Rufin v. City of Seattle*, No. 72012-1-1, slip op. at 3 (Wash Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2015) (unpublished),

https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/720121.pdf (*Rufin I*). Maehara "approved the letter" of June 12, 2012, informing Rufin that City Light

would not be considering Rufin's application. *Rufin v. City of Seattle*, No. 76091-2-I, slip op. at 3 (Wash Ct. App. Aug. 21, 2017) (unpublished), https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/760912.pdf (*Rufin III*).<sup>2</sup>

Two months later, on August 15, 2012, Rufin emailed a public records request to Maehara, as City Light's Public Disclosure Officer. She requested, among other things, "[a]ll e-mails... from any employee or entity at Seattle City Light, dated January 1, 2004 or later, containing the name 'Rufin' or referring to Rebecca (Becky) Rufin." Op., at A2; CP 1680; Ex. 6. In response, Josh Walter, a paralegal in Maehara's office, replied on August 21, 2012, that he "anticipate[d] delivering responsive records City Light may have in their entirety or in installments on or about Friday, September 14, 2012." Ex. 8, RP 104-05. Maehara was copied on the response. Ex. 8. Three days later, Maehara received a copy of Rufin's recently filed tort claim addressing City Light's failure to hire her for the CMEM job. RP 109-10; Ex. 65. One month later, the Public Records Office ("PRO") told Rufin her request for emails referring to her name was "overbroad" and encouraged her to narrow the request, leading Rufin to request "emails by or between <u>Davonna Johnson</u>, Jorge Carrasco, Steve Kern, Mike Haynes, and/or any individual in the Law Department that mention my name or the Civil/Mechanical Engineering Manager hiring

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Rufin will soon be filing a related petition for review in response to *Rufin III*.

process." See RP 111; Ex. 10, at SEA-Rufin 4865-67.

The April 2012 email Maehara received from Haynes remained responsive to Rufin's revised request and had been retained by Maehara, but the City did not produce the email to Rufin in response to her records request, because the PRO did not search Maehara's email account. CP 1682, ¶ 6. If the email (Ex. 1) had been disclosed to Rufin, it would have contradicted testimony from City managers in the 2014 WLAD trial addressing Rufin's non-selection for CMEM. *See* RP 175-78, RP 83-84 (HR Officer DaVonna Johnson testified at trial that she did not even know Rufin had been applying until after the fact, and the City argued there was "not one shred of evidence" linking Ms. Johnson); *accord* CP 665-68.

### 2. Procedural Background

Rufin filed a lawsuit for violation of the PRA, because the City failed to promptly respond to a request for certain hiring files. CP 6-8, ¶¶ 3.20-.29. Through discovery in the PRA suit, she learned the Legal Affairs Office (attorney Gary Maehara and paralegal Josh Walter), who also acted as the PRO, were given regular updates by the City's attorneys about her WLAD case, *see* RP 104-05, 109; Exs. 47-55, 40-43; RP 119-124; and had communicated with the City's trial counsel in the WLAD case about her pending PRA requests, *see* Ex. 31, RP 125-27—even while the PRO was at the same time failing to meet its statutory duty to communicate with

Rufin about the same PRA request and neglecting to provide her an estimate of time for when responsive hiring files would be disclosed. *See* Ex. 31; CP 1970, ¶ 2. In discovery in the PRA case, the City also produced the April 2012 "smoking gun" email that contradicted the testimony in the WLAD trial about H.R. Officer Johnson's alleged lack of knowledge of Rufin's application for the CMEM position. *See* Ex. 70; Ex. 1.

A trial was held on Rufin's PRA claims, after which the trial court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. CP 1680-88. The court found, *inter alia*, that the search the PRO conducted, which failed to result in production of the smoking gun email, "was reasonably calculated to uncover all documents relevant to Ms. Rufin's request" and that the City had no "obvious[] lead ... to search the email account of Mr. Maehara." *See* CP 1682-83. In a subsequent ruling, the court found based on other PRA claims that Rufin was a "prevailing party (one who has proved that a violation of the PRA occurred)" and awarded her reasonable attorney fees under RCW 42.56.550(4), while declining to apply CR 68 to limit the fees, stating that application of the rule "in this context would have a chilling effect on th[e] public policy" found in the PRA. CP 1762-63.

Rufin appealed the underlying decision on her PRA claims, and the City cross-appealed regarding the fee award. CP 1960; CP 1769.

### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

# 1. An Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Presented by the Court of Appeals' Application of CR 68 to the PRA

The Opinion raises an issue of substantial public interest, as its holding overturns the trial court's thoughtful decision on CR 68, and limits the power and effect of the Public Records Act (PRA), diminishing its purpose by making it less financially feasible for private citizens to enforce the act and hold government accountable.

The PRA['s]... underlying policy is evidenced by RCW 42.56.030:

The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created.

This court has also stated that the PRA's intent is nothing less than the preservation of the most central tenets of representative government, namely, the sovereignty of the people and the accountability to the people of public officials and institutions.... Without tools such as the Public Records Act, government of the people, by the people, for the people, risks becoming government of the people, by the bureaucrats, for the special interests.

Gendler v. Batiste, 174 Wn.2d 244, 251–52, 274 P.3d 346 (2012).

"[P]ermitting a liberal recovery of costs is consistent with the policy behind the act by making it financially feasible for private citizens to enforce the public's right to access public records." *ACLU of Wash. v. Blaine*, 95 Wn. App. 106, 115, 975 P.2d 536 (1999); *accord Progressive* 

Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Washington, 114 Wn.2d 677, 683, 790 P.2d 604 (1990) ("mandate for liberal construction includes a liberal construction of the statute's provision for award of reasonable attorneys' fees"). The Court has "made clear that 'strict enforcement' of fees ... will discourage improper denial of access to public records." *Id.*, 114 Wn.2d at 686 (rejecting argument that there is a "duty to negotiate prior to seeking judicial intervention" and holding that such "failure to negotiate' is an untenable ground for a reduction of attorneys' fees" under PRA).

The PRA requires an award of attorney fees and costs to prevailing plaintiffs, while holding out the possibility of a court awarded penalty not to exceed one hundred dollars a day for withholding each "public record":

Any person who prevails against an agency in any action in the courts seeking the right to inspect or copy any public record or the right to receive a response to a public record request within a reasonable amount of time shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action. In addition, it shall be within the discretion of the court to award such person an amount not to exceed one hundred dollars for each day that he or she was denied the right to inspect or copy said public record.

RCW 42.56.550(4) (emphasis added).

Civil Rule 68 provides in relevant part:

At any time more than 10 days before the trial begins, a party defending against a claim may serve upon the adverse party an offer to allow judgment to be taken against the defending party for the money or property or to the effect specified in the defending party's offer, with costs then accrued. If within 10 days after the service of the offer the adverse party serves written

notice that the offer is accepted, either party may then file the offer and notice of acceptance together with proof of service thereof and thereupon the court shall enter judgment. An offer not accepted shall be deemed withdrawn and evidence thereof is not admissible except in a proceeding to determine costs. If the judgment finally obtained by the offeree is not more favorable than the offer, the offeree must pay the costs incurred after the making of the offer....

CR 68 (emphasis added).

The City in this case submitted the following offer of judgment:

COMES NOW defendant CITY OF SEATTLE, by and through their counsel of record, and pursuant to CR 68, offers to allow judgment to be entered against defendant in this matter in the total sum of Forty Thousand Dollars and No/100's (\$40,000,00) for daily penalties. This amount does not include costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred to date, which shall be awarded in an amount to be determined by the Superior Court after briefing and argument. This offer does not constitute an admission of liability or of damages on the part of defendant. This offer shall terminate without further notice ten (10) days after service if not accepted by plaintiff in writing beforehand.

In the event plaintiff does not accept this offer, and judgment is obtained against defendant, plaintiff must pay plaintiff's costs, including attorneys' fees, incurred after the date of this offer in the event that the judgment for penalties finally obtained is not more favorable than the amount of this offer.

CP 1751-52. Following trial, "Rufin received a judgment for \$1,688 for one PRA violation.<sup>3</sup> She requested \$168,038.96 in fees and costs, but was awarded \$33,229.12. The court declined to shift attorney fees or costs under CR 68, finding that CR 68 does not apply in PRA cases." Op., at A4; *accord* CP 1685, 1767-68. The trial court reasoned:

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals found the City had committed a second violation and remanded for calculation of attorney fees related thereto. See Op., at A10-A11.

[I]t would undermine the statutory purpose of the PRA to limit Plaintiff's recovery of costs and attorney fees. The purpose of the PRA is to protect the sovereignty of the people of this State. RCW 42.56.020. To assure that the public interest will be fully protected, the PRA is a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records and should be liberally construed to promote full access to public records, and its exemptions are to be narrowly construed.... Application of CR 68 in this context would have a chilling effect on this public policy.

### Op., A4-A5, quoting CP 1763.

The Court of Appeals disagreed with the trial court's analysis on three grounds. First, citing CR 1, CR 81(a), and some case law, the Court of Appeals found that, "Because caselaw clearly establishes that an action under the PRA is not a special proceeding, the civil rules apply." Op., at A13. Second, the Court held that, "applying CR 68 to the PRA is a reflection of this reasonableness requirement [of the attorney fee provision]: if a plaintiff fails to improve her position at trial, the costs and attorney fees associated with the additional litigation are not reasonable, and may be limited pursuant to CR 68." Op. at A14. Third, the Court held, "Rufin fails to distinguish the language in the PRA attorney fee provision from similar statutes that are subject to CR 68 and provide for attorney fees to the prevailing plaintiff." *Id*. The Court's analysis misses the mark.

On the final point, Rufin did distinguish other fee-shifting statutes, noting the PRA is unique in that it "does not provide a cause of action for damages" and the "penalty" that the court may award in its discretion "is

not a requirement for an award of fees." CP 1942-44, discussing RCW 42.56.550(4). The statutes cited by the Court, the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) and the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), are different. They are designed to make victims whole. The purpose of the WLAD is to "eradicate discrimination." *See Martini v. Boeing Co.*, 137 Wn.2d 357, 376, 971 P.2d 45 (1999). To that end, the WLAD provides a prevailing plaintiff with the right to "recover the actual damages sustained by the person," along with reasonable attorney fees. *See* RCW 49.60.030(2).

The purpose of the CPA is to make unlawful, "Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce." RCW 19.86.020. To that end, the CPA provides a prevailing plaintiff with the right "to recover actual damages sustained," along with reasonable attorney fees. *See* RCW 19.86.090. The CPA defines "person" to include, "the counties, municipalities, and all political subdivisions of this state," meaning the State may be a plaintiff. *Id*.

In contrast, the PRA is designed to make government (not companies or private citizens) accountable by providing that when government withholds documents, the prevailing plaintiff obtains a judgment, attorney fees and costs (the court may also award a penalty).

See RCW 42.56.550(4). Unlike the WLAD and CPA, there is no provision

to recover actual damages, because that is not the PRA's purpose. See id.

In cases brought under the WLAD and the CPA, promoting settlement before trial makes sense, because many of the actual damages may be calculated with reasonable certainty by each side (damages like back pay and front pay under the WLAD and lost profits under the CPA), and the payment of money for actual damages is usually the goal. Payment of some percentage of the actual damages suffered dissuades wrongdoers from engaging in those practices prohibited by the statutes, and provides plaintiffs with some portion of those actual damages, which contributes to the eradication of discrimination and the protection of consumers. Thus, as the Court of Appeals reasoned, but wrongly applied to the PRA, CR 68 "promotes reasonable, prompt, and proportional resolution of [WLAD and CPA] violations." *See* Op., at A15.

In contrast, CR 68 defeats the PRA's objective, which is to "assure that the public interest is fully protected," so the People "may maintain control over the instruments that they have created." RCW 42.56.030.

First, the Opinion's holding is contrary to the plain language of the PRA, which provides, "In the event of conflict between the provisions of this chapter and any other act, the provisions of this chapter shall govern." RCW 42.56.030. The Court's application of procedural rules like CR 1 and CR 81(a) to justify its ruling is mistaken. CR 81(b) clearly limits the

application of the civil rules to procedural statutes and rules: "Subject to the provisions of section (a) of this rule, these rules supersede all procedural statutes and other rules that may be in conflict." The PRA is substantive, not procedural. Thus, CR 68 cannot trump the PRA and cut off attorney fees and costs by serving an offer of judgment. The PRA demands that "the provisions of this chapter shall govern." RCW 42.56.030. The PRA also provides, "This chapter shall be liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed to promote this public policy and to assure that the public interest will be fully protected." *Id.* It was error to ignore the statute and to favor CR 68 over the PRA.

Second, CR 68 is not designed to address claims in which there are no claims for "actual damages." The Court erred in forcing CR 68 on the PRA. The City offered, "to allow judgment to be entered against defendant in this matter in the total sum of Forty Thousand Dollars and No/100's (\$40,000.00) for **daily penalties**." CR 1751. Daily penalties are optional under the PRA ("shall be within the discretion of the court to award" a penalty, RCW 42.56.550(4)) and the trial court awarded a penalty of just \$2.00 per day, CP 1685, but attorney fees and costs are mandatory ("shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees," *id.*) and were awarded by the trial court. CP 1758-68. Thus, the City's CR 68 offer—payment for daily penalties—did not address the

mandatory remedy in the case, which was attorney fees and costs.

Ms. Rufin was the prevailing party and entitled to fees without a penalty much like a WLAD plaintiff is the prevailing party if, for example, liability is found on a discrimination claim, and actual damages include back pay but not front pay. In Sanders v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 (2010), the Court analyzed the text of RCW 42.56.550(4) and noted that "[t]he first sentence entitles a prevailing party to costs and reasonable attorney fees for vindicating 'the right to inspect or copy' or 'the right to receive a response,' but the second sentence authorizes penalties only for denials of 'the right to inspect or copy.'" Id. As a result, under the PRA a requestor may be considered a "prevailing party ... at least entitled to costs and reasonable attorneys' fees," even if they are not entitled to a penalty." See, e.g., Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cty. v. Cty. of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702, 724–25, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) (discussing entitlement to fees based on the inadequate PRA response resulting from an inadequate search); accord Op. at A11 (stating "Rufin is entitled to fees for the March 17, 2014 request," while affirming the denial of any penalty regarding the request). The result dictated by the Opinion means no amount of attorney fees could have satisfied the CR 68 "daily penalty" offer. Thus, the offer does not match the recovery, and cannot be measured against the recovery. As to the argument that the "reasonable

fees" element is enhanced by the application of CR 68, the trial court's reduction in fees in this case shows that the reasonableness of the fees is evaluated with or without the addition of CR 68. *See* CP 1767-68.

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