FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/28/2017 2:05 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95001-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

REBECCA A. RUFIN, Petitioner,

VS.

CITY OF SEATTLE, Respondent,

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Michael K. Ryan, WSBA #32091 Jessica Nadelman, WSBA #27569 CITY OF SEATTLE 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: 206-684-8200

Facsimile: 206-684-8284

Angela G. Summerfield ODGEN MURPHY WALLACE 901 5th Avenue, Suite 3500 Seattle, WA 98164-2008 Telephone: 206-447-7000

Facsimile: 206-447-0215

I INTRODUCTION

Discretionary review should be denied. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled, consistent with this Court's precedents, that Public Records Act (PRA) cases are not special proceedings and therefore Civil Rule 68 applies in PRA cases. Given Washington's strong public policy favoring settlements, CR 68 dovetails neatly with the PRA's fundamental purpose of open government. Review is also unnecessary of the fact-bound application of this Court's adequate search precedents under the PRA. This is all the more so because Ms. Rufin was afforded a rare opportunity to have a trial on her claim. It is only by confusing the role of appellate courts reviewing factual findings that Ms. Rufin can claim the Court of Appeals erred in any respect. It did not. Consequently, the Petition should be denied.

II BACKGROUND

The City does not agree with Ms. Rufin's one-sided characterization of the "Factual Background," Pet. at 2-3, as it omits numerous facts supporting the trial court's factual findings regarding the adequacy of the City's search in response to her September 28, 2012 request, and because it also omits any facts related to the City's CR 68 offer of judgment. Rather than detail those facts here, the City notes that the trial court's Findings of

Facts and Conclusions of Law,¹ the Court of Appeals' Opinion,² and the City's appellate brief³ fully lay out the relevant facts.

III ARGUMENT

Discretionary review should be denied on both issues for which Ms. Rufin seeks review. First, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that CR 68 applies in PRA cases and the application of the rule in no way undermines the PRA. Rather, it is completely consistent with the PRA. Second, there is no need for this Court to review the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial court's factual conclusion that the City conducted an adequate search, which was based on a two-day trial, because Ms. Rufin's arguments demonstrate a fundamental misunderstanding of the appellate court's role. Discretionary review should be denied.

A. Discretionary review is not warranted because the Court of Appeals faithfully applied this Court's precedents.

In concluding that CR 68 applies in PRA cases, the Court of Appeals faithfully applied this Court's precedents, which hold that a PRA proceeding is not a special proceeding and therefore the Civil Rules apply

¹ See CP 1680-88.

² See Opinion at 1-4.

³ See City's Answering/Opening Br. at 2-13 (factual background on PRA issues) & *id.* at 37-38 (factual background on CR 68 issues).

in PRA cases. *See* Opinion at 12. Ms. Rufin sidesteps these dispositive rulings. Far from citing "some case law," Pet. at 9, the Court of Appeals relied on this Court's cases in *Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane*, 155 Wn.2d 89, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005), and *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. County of Spokane*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011), both of which determined that the Civil Rules apply in PRA cases.

In *Spokane Research*, after addressing CR 1, CR 2 and CR 81, this Court distinguished between proceedings that are "statutorily defined," such as garnishment, unlawful detainer, and sexually violent predator proceedings, and general civil actions, noting that "actions under the PDA are not" statutorily defined. 155 Wn.2d at 104-05. As a result, the Court held that the "normal civil procedures are an appropriate method to prosecute a claim under the liberally construed PDA." *Id.* at 105. This Court affirmed this holding several years later, concluding that the civil discovery rules apply in PRA cases. *Neighborhood Alliance*, 172 Wn.2d at 716.

These cases establish that the Civil Rules, not just some of them, apply in PRA cases. Indeed, because the PRA "says nothing about" CR 68, the implication is that "such procedure is proper to the extent allowed by the civil rules." *Spokane Research*, 155 Wn.2d at 105; thus, "no reason exists to treat" CR 68 differently in the context of the PRA. *Neighborhood*

Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 716. Ms. Rufin's unpersuasive policy arguments cannot overcome these precedents.

"Washington law strongly favors the public policy of settlement over litigation." *Am. Safety Cas. Ins. Co. v. City of Olympia*, 162 Wn.2d 762, 772, 174 P.3d 54 (2007) (collecting cases). CR 68 reflects this policy and is designed to "encourage settlements and avoid lengthy litigation." *Dussault v. Seattle Pub. Schools*, 69 Wn. App. 728, 732, 850 P.2d 581 (1993). CR 68 offers operate as a contract, and the City's offer expressly included, in addition to the \$40,000 penalty amount, an award of fees to be decided by the court upon acceptance of the Offer. CP 1751.⁴ The effect of a CR 68 offer, when it includes attorneys' fees and costs, is simple: it cuts off those fees and costs "up to the date of the offer." *Johnson v. State Dep't of Trans.*, 177 Wn. App. 684, 692, 313 P.3d 1197 (2013). "When the offer of judgment reads that the offered amount includes all reasonable attorney fees and costs, the plaintiff may not recover reasonable attorney fees and costs, *beyond the offered amount*, even if a statute affords recovery for fees

⁴ Ms. Rufin's claim that the City's Offer "did not address the mandatory remedy in this case, which was attorney fees and costs," is false. Pet. at 12-13. The Offer states that the "amount does not include costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred to date, which shall be awarded in an amount to be determined by the Superior Court after briefing and argument." Pet. at 8 (quoting Offer; emphasis added). The Offer was clear: The City agreed to have a judgment entered against it in the amount of \$40,000, plus reasonable attorneys' fees, but left the determination of the amount of those fees to the trial court. In fact, the Offer followed the "prudent practice" of being as clear as possible with respect to fees. Hodge v. Dev. Servs. of Am., 65 Wn. App. 576, 584, 828 P.2d 1175 (1992).

and costs." *Critchlow v. Dex Media West, Inc.*, 192 Wn. App. 710, 719, 368 P.3d 246, *rev. denied*, 186 Wn.2d 1012 (2016). Thus, CR 68 does not foreclose an award of attorneys' fees, it only limits recovery after a date certain depending on a plaintiff's future success.

Ms. Rufin's claim that there is a conflict between CR 68 and the PRA rests on a fundamental misunderstanding of how CR 68 operates. Pet. at 11-12. CR 68 does not negate a party's *right* to attorney's fees and costs. Rather, it merely limits the *amount* of fees *after a date certain* where, as here, the party rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more favorable judgment. Moreover, Ms. Rufin's logic is internally inconsistent. On the one hand, she claims that applying CR 68 undermines the purposes of the PRA. On the other hand, she concedes that any request for fees must be judged against a standard of reasonableness. As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, these are two sides to the same coin, because "[a]pplying CR 68 to the PRA is a reflection of this reasonableness requirement." Opinion at 14.

In *Marek v. Chesny*, 473 U.S. 1 (1985), the Supreme Court came to the same conclusion is a related context—entitlement to fees in brought under the federal civil rights statute 42 U.S.C. § 1983. The Court recognized that the applicable fee-shifting statue, 42. U.S.C. § 1988, "authorizes courts to award only 'reasonable' attorney's fees to prevailing parties," and concluded that Federal Rule 68 was "in no sense inconsistent" with that

statute or the underlying civil rights statute. 473 U.S. at 11.5 It explained:

In a case where a rejected settlement offer exceeds the ultimate recovery, the plaintiff—although technically the prevailing party—has not received any monetary benefits from the postoffer services of his attorney . . . Given Congress' focus on the success achieved, we are not persuaded that shifting the postoffer costs to respondent in these circumstances would in any sense thwart its intent under § 1988.

Id. The same logic applies here. It is undisputed that (1) Ms. Rufin received a judgment that was considerably less favorable than the City's offer, and (2) she received no additional documents responsive to any of her requests after the City made its offer. Thus, while Ms. Rufin technically prevailed under the PRA on two of her six claims at trial (both of which the City basically conceded), her post-offer efforts before the trial court were unnecessary and a waste of time because they accomplished nothing. Engaging in needless, post-offer litigation does not advance the purposes of the PRA, which is open government and access to records. *Predisik v. Spokane Sch. Dist. No. 81*, 182 Wn.2d 896, 903, 346 P.3d 737 (2015).

Moreover, given CR 68's "policy of encouraging settlements is neutral, favoring neither plaintiff nor defendants," *Marek*, 473 U.S. at 10; it

⁵ As Ms. Rufin acknowledges, because the PRA "closely parallels the federal Freedom of Information Act...judicial interpretations of that act are particularly helpful in construing" the PRA. Pet. at 18 n.4 (quoting *Neighborhood Alliance*). Notably, Federal Rule 68, which mirrors CR 68, applies in FOIA cases. *See, e.g., Electronic Privacy Info. Ctr. v. U.S. Dep't of Homeland Security*, 982 F. Supp.2d 56, 62 (D.D.C. 2013).

makes sense to apply CR 68 equally to all civil litigation:

Civil rights plaintiffs—along with other plaintiffs—who reject an offer more favorable than what is thereafter recovered at trial will not recover attorney's fees for services performed after the offer is rejected. But, since the Rule is neutral, many civil rights plaintiffs will benefit from the offers of settlement encouraged by Rule 68. Some plaintiffs will receive compensation in settlement where, on trial, they might not have recovered, or would have recovered less than what was offered. And, even for those who would prevail at trial, settlement will provide them with compensation at an earlier date without the burdens, stress, and time of litigation. In short, settlements will serve the interests of plaintiffs as well as defendants.

Marek, 473 U.S. at 10. Given CR 68's neutrality, it does not matter that the underlying statute that creates the civil cause of action has a laudable public purpose in assessing whether CR 68 applies. See, e.g., Interfaith Cmty. Org. v. Honeywell Intern., Inc., 726 F.3d 403, 410-11 (3d Cir. 2013).

Likewise, lengthy and costly litigation, is also inconsistent with the PRA. As then Chief Justice Madsen explained:

Full blown civil litigation, however, is not consistent with the narrow, but important, purposes of the PRA to assure that individuals may obtain public records from their government agencies quickly and expeditiously and that individuals may enjoy the same kind of quick and expeditious process to resolve claims like inadequacy of an agency's search. The consequences are increased costs, time, and effort on the part of the requesters and the agencies, which will have to devote taxpayer-funded time and resources to litigation rather than doing the public work of the agency.

Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 730 (Madsen, C.J., concurring). In fact, it is for this reason that the Legislature included in the PRA a show cause procedure to address issues under the PRA expeditiously. See RCW 42.56.550(1). For reasons known only to Ms. Rufin, she eschewed this streamlined process and instead opted to engage in full-blown litigation. While that was her choice, see Spokane Research, 155 Wn.2d at 106; it is a bridge too far for her to now claim that applying CR 68 in the context of this case frustrates the PRA.

Next, without citation or elaboration, Ms. Rufin proclaims that "CR 68 is not designed to address claims in which there are no claims for 'actual damages." Pet. at 12. This argument, however, misreads the plain language of CR 68. CR 68 speaks in terms of "judgments" not damages. Thus, under the rule it does not matter whether the basis of the judgment derives from statutory penalties or damages. The result is the same: A *judgment* is entered against the offering party if the offer is accepted.

Nor does it make any difference that the City's offer did not admit wrongdoing, *see Pet.* at 15; because at the end of the day, had Ms. Rufin accepted it, a formal judgment would have been entered against the City. Any claim that applying CR 68 in PRA cases allows an agency "to avoid being exposed and held publicly accountable" for violations of the PRA makes no sense. *Id.* In fact, Ms. Rufin does not agree with her own premise

because her Petition states: "Thus, the *only remedy* that holds government *publicly accountable for wrongdoing* under the PRA is a *judgment* for the plaintiff." *Id.* at 16 (emphasis added). That is precisely what CR 68 does: It allows for entry of judgment against an agency.

Finally, far from creating "absurd results," Pet. at 14, applying CR 68 in PRA cases brings a needed sense of proportionality to PRA litigation. Ms. Rufin's example of non-penalty generating claims underscores the point. *See* Pet. at 14. By legislative design, certain claims under the PRA generate penalties of up to \$100 a day, plus fees, while others generate only fees. *See*, *e.g.*, *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 860, 240 P.3d 120 (2010). Take for example, the failure to issue a five-day letter, which only generates fees. *See* Opinion at 11. When an agency fails to issue a five-day letter, the violation is clear: Either it issued the letter or it didn't.⁶

Applying CR 68 in such an instance makes perfect sense because litigating a case such as that all the way to trial, or even to summary judgment, is not proportional or even necessary. In such cases, there is no

⁶ This case illustrates the point. On appeal, the Court of Appeals determined that the City's failure to provide Ms. Rufin a five-day letter with respect to her March 17, 2014 request was a violation of the PRA, and remanded the case to the trial court to recalculate Ms. Rufin's fee award. See Opinion at 11. The Court of Appeals also awarded her attorneys' fees on appeal. See id. at 15-16. Although she only prevailed on one claim on appeal, on an issue the City conceded at every stage of the proceeding, Ms. Rufin nevertheless requested almost \$40,000 in fees and costs for the appeal. The Court Commissioner, in consultation with the Panel, reduced this amount to \$5,000 and Ms. Rufin did not challenge that ruling. See Attachment A (Commissioner Ruling) & Attachment B (City's Objection).

need to spend "thousands of dollars to subpoena and depose witnesses, obtain documents, and conduct a trial." Pet. at 14. Doing all of things wastes everyone's time and money. Providing a mechanism for early resolution of those claims makes perfect sense unless one views the award of attorneys' fees as purely punitive, or as a hedge, as Ms. Rufin apparently does.

Applying CR 68 facilitates early resolution of claims and is consistent with the PRA. A contrary conclusion will incentivize plaintiffs (and their counsel) to reject reasonable settlement offers and run-up large fee amounts in the hopes they prevail at trial. CR 68 provides a necessary counterweight. Incentivizing such gamesmanship, by foreclosing the application of a valuable settlement tool, does not advance the PRA; rather, it undermines the societal benefits inherent in the settlement process and promotes misuse of PRA lawsuits. Ms. Rufin's Petition should be denied.

B. Discretionary review is not warranted to review the trial court's factual findings that were made after a bench trial.

Although Ms. Rufin was provided an extraordinarily rare opportunity in this case—an actual trial on the merits of her PRA claim that the City did not conduct an adequate search—her arguments ignore the trial court proceedings and factual findings. Pet. at 20. Seizing on a single line in the Opinion, Ms. Rufin claims that the Court of Appeals placed the

burden on her to demonstrate the City's search was unreasonable. *Id.* at 17.7 This assertion makes no sense because the appeals court was not reviewing a legal ruling or even a ruling based only on documentary evidence. Instead, it was reviewing *factual findings* made by the trial court after that court heard from six live witnesses and reviewed over a hundred exhibits.

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